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STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 
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APPEAL NO. 16-0543 

v. 	 (CIRCUIT COURT OF CABELL COUNTY, 

INDICTMENT NO. 14-F-252) 

STEWARD BUTLER 
Respondent. 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 


ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 It was error for the Circuit Court to find that West Virginia Code § 61-6-21(b) does not 
provide protection of an individual's civil rights where the violative act is based solely upon 
said individual's sexual orientation. I 

2. 	 It was error for the Circuit Court to order Counts I and III of Indictment Number 15-F-242 
dismissed because, regardless of the Court's answer to the Certified Question, the State may 
still prosecute the Defendant tmder W. Va. Code § 61-6-21 for a violative act because of the 
sex of his victims. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In the early morning of AprilS, 2015, Steward Butler ("the Defendant") caught a ride home 

from a party along with several other young men; all were NCAA Division I football players. 

See App. 24. As their red Chevy Cobalt pulled up to the stoplight at the comer of Fifth Avenue 

and Ninth Street in Huntington, the Defendant observed two males, Zackery Johnson and Casey 

Williams ("the victims"), on the sidewalk alongside the vehicle. App. 38. When they kissed, the 

Defendant allegedly began to hurl homophobic slurs at the two men, and he exited the vehicle. 

App. 38-39. Other passengers also spilled out, attempting to get the Defendant back inside the 

car. App. 24, 36. Sensing trouble, Mr. Johnson began to video the encounter on his mobile 

1 In so finding, the Circuit Court effectively answered in the negative this Certified Question: "Whether 
the provision of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 embodies a protection of an individual's civil rights if the 
violative act is based solely upon said individual's sexual orientation?" 



phone, and in the commotion, he dropped his ID card. As Mr. Williams bent down to retrieve his 

partner's ID, the Defendant struck Mr. Williams in the face, knocking him to the ground, and 

then he also struck Mr. Johnson. App. 33, 39. The defendant was subsequently identified based 

upon the video footage and statements of the Defendant's companions. 

On May 21,2015, the Cabell County Grand Jury indicted the Defendant on two (2) counts of 

Battery (Counts II and IV), and on two (2) counts of Violations of an Individual's Civil Rights 

(Counts I and III) in violation of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 (b), which provides that: 

If any person does by force or threat of force, willfully injure, intimidate or 
interfere with, or attempt to injure, intimidate or interfere with, or oppress or 
threaten any other person in the free exercise or enjoyment of any right or 
privilege secured to him or her by the Constitution or laws of the state of West 
Virginia or by the Constitution or laws of the United States, because of such other 
person's race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, political affiliation or sex, 
he or she shall be guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction, shall be fined not more 
than five thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both. 

On December 16, 2015, the Circuit Court requested that the West Virginia Supreme Court of 

Appeals answer a certified question ("the Certified Question") under the provisions of the 

Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act, W. Va. Code § 51-lA-I, et seq., The question 

submitted was: "Whether the provision of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 embodies a protection 

of an individual's civil rights if the violative act is based solely upon said individual's sexual 

orientation?" Order of Cert. to the Sup. Ct. of W. Va. at 1. The Supreme Court reviewed the 

Question, and entered an order denying certification on February 9, 2016. Only then did the 

Circuit Court order both parties to submit memoranda of law in support of their respective 

positions. In an Order entered on May 13, 2016, the Circuit Court answered the Certified 

Question in the negative, reasoning that it could not "expand the word 'sex' to include 'sexual 

orientation' within West Virginia Code § 61-6-21(b)." Order Reg. Appl. ofW. Va. Code §61-6

21 and Setting Trial Date at 5. Furthermore, the Circuit Court ordered that Counts I and III of 
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Indictment 15-F-242 be dismissed "as the State of West Virginia cannot properly bring such 

action against Mr. Butler under the laws of this State as they currently stand." Id. at 5-6. The 

State filed Notice of Appeal of the Order of the Cabell County Circuit Court on June 9, 2016. 

Because the Circuit Court entered an order that effectively finds Indictment 15-F-242 to be bad 

or insufficient, the State petitions this honorable Court for review by writ of error pursuant to W. 

Va. Code § 58-5-30 (2015), and petitions this Court to overturn the dismissal of Counts I and III 

of the Indictment. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court certified the following question of law to the West Virginia Supreme 

Court: "Whether the provision of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 embodies a protection of an 

individual's civil rights if the violative act is based solely upon said individual's sexual 

orientation?" The Supreme Court denied certification on this question, and, following written 

argument, the Circuit Court entered an Order which answered the Certified Question in the 

negative, reasoning that it could not "expand the word 'sex' to include 'sexual orientation' 

within West Virginia Code § 61-6-21(b)." Furthermore, the Circuit Court ordered that Counts I 

and III ofIndictment 15-F-242 be dismissed "as the State of West Virginia cannot properly bring 

such action against Mr. Butler under the laws of this State as they currently stand." 

The State asserts that protection based on the statutory class of "sex" includes "sexual 

orientation," at the very least, in the specific circumstances of this case. Whereas protection 

based strictly on "sexual orientation" ordinarily contemplates a violative act asserted against a 

single victim, because of his or her known or perceived sexual orientation, here, the violative act 

was asserted against two victims, because of interaction based on their sex. The Defendant 

targeted two men whom he perceived to be homosexual. However, had either victim instead been 

3 




a woman, the Defendant would not have attacked them. This narrowly tailored factual scenario 

invites precisely the protection contemplated by the class of "sex" under the Statute. When the 

Defendant singled out his victims because of his perception of their sexual orientation, he also 

unquestionably targeted his victims because of their sex. In this case, protection based on sexual 

. orientation cannot be rationally differentiated from the statutory protection based only on sex. 

West Virginia courts have previously looked to federal employment discrimination law under 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 ("Title VII") when interpreting other civil rights 

statutes. Under Title VII, sexual orientation discrimination is now considered to be 

discrimination "because of sex." Additionally, other jurisdictions have recognized sexual 

discrimination when victims were targeted because of their sex, and when violative acts occurred 

in response to the failure of a victim to measure up to the aggressor's own sex-based stereotypes. 

The State should be allowed to demonstrate to a finder-of-fact that the Defendant's violative act 

was directed not only at the victims' sexual orientation per se, but also at their sex-based 

behavior. This interpretation of the Statute's protected class based on sex, which allows for 

protection from violence based on sexual orientation, would be entirely appropriate in this case, 

based on the Defendant's violative acts "because of sex." 

Even if the Court finds that the Statute does not provide protection "because of sexual 

orientation," the State argues that the Defendant's attack of his two male victims still violated the 

Statute. The Defendant viewed the kiss exchanged between the two victims as being not in 

conformity with his own expectations for male behavior. This is apparent because his response to 

their behavior was to hurl homosexual slurs at the two-who were distinctively and indisputably 

male-and then to punch both victims about the face. If either victim had not been a male, then 

4 




the Defendant would not have committed the violative act. He did not demonstrate animus 

toward homosexuals in general, but specifically, toward homosexual men. 

Finally, the Certified Question was inappropriately handled by the circuit court. West 

Virginia has codified two separate provisions under which a party may certify a legal question to 

the Supreme Court for review prior to case disposition, however one section is intended for 

foreign courts to submit questions of law arising in, for example, a federal court, while the other 

section is intended for review of questions arising in the circuit courts of West Virginia. The 

intrastate code section requires the certifying court to first make a ruling on the question for 

review by the Supreme Court. In this case, the question was certified under the wrong section, 

with no prior ruling, and after the Supreme Court denied certification, the circuit court then 

answered the Certified Question in the negative, effectively circumventing the procedure. The 

circuit court's answer resulted in the dismissal of hate crimes charges brought against the 

Defendant, and precluded prosecution under the legal theory advanced in the State's second 

assignment of error. It was therefore error for the Circuit Court to order Counts I and III of the 

Indictment to be dismissed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument in this case is appropriate under W. Va. R. App. P. 18 because (1) the parties 

have not waived oral argument, (2) the appeal is not frivolous, (3) the dispositive issues have 

never been authoritatively decided by this Court, and (4) the decisional process of the Court 

would be significantly aided by oral argument. Specifically, the issues presented herein are 

proper for consideration by oral argument under W. Va. R. App. P. 20 because (1) this case 

involves an issue of first impression, and because (2) it involves an issue of fundamental public 
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importance for a substantial number of West Virginians. The State therefore believes that the 

decisional process of the Court may be significantly aided by oral argument. 
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ARGUMENT 


West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 embodies a protection of an individual's civil rights if the 
violative act is based solely upon said individual's sexual orientation, because the law 
protects against such discrimination that is "because of sex." 

Hate crimes laws enhance the criminal penalty for perpetrators who commit offenses against 

victims because of some personal trait of those victims. The penalty is enhanced not because one 

victim is deserving of greater protection under the law than another, but rather because society 

deems the mindset of the perpetrator of a hate crime to be particularly loathsome. In this case, 

the Defendant was also charged with two counts of battery. The distinction between the crime of 

battery and the crime of violation of civil rights is the increased punishment for the latter. This 

increase of punishment is based upon society's view that hate crimes are deserving of harsher 

punishment than other crimes, because of the motive of the offenders is perceived by society as 

more culpable. This analysis is not unique to hate crimes laws. For exanlple, the law treats 

homicide in the same way. While the victim of an involuntary manslaughter is no less dead than 

the victim of a first-degree murder, the law punishes the murder more severely than the 

manslaughter, based on the intent of the murderer-not on any characteristic of the victim. Here, 

the Defendant attacked his victims solely because of their sex, and the State seeks a punishment 

commensurate with the increased level of culpability he displayed. 

Standard of Review 

This case is appropriate for review de novo. "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit 

court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo 

standard of review." Syl. pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 

(1995); Syl. pt. 1, State v. Paynter, 206 W.Va. 521, 526 S.E.2d 43 (1999). Likewise, "[t]he 

appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de 
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novo." Syi. pt. 1, Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172,475 S.E.2d 172 (1996). 

"On an appeal to this Court the appellant bears the burden of showing that there was error in the 

proceedings below resulting in the judgment of which he complains, all presumptions being in 

favor of the correctness of the proceedings and judgment in and of the trial court." SyI. pt. 2, 

Perdue v. Coiner, 156 W. Va. 467, 467, 194 S.E.2d 657, 658 (1973). 

Jurisdictional Statement 

In criminal cases where there has been no conviction in a circuit court, this Court has 

appellate jurisdiction as conferred upon it by law. W. Va. Const. art. VIII, § 3. When a trial court 

dismisses a felony indictment for insufficiency, the court's action is considered a final judgment 

as to that charge, and the State can properly appeal under the provisions of W. Va. Code § 58-5

30. State v. Brown, 159 W. Va. 438, 441,223 S.E.2d 193, 194 (1976); State v. Younger, 130 W. 

Va. 236, 43 S.E.2d 52 (1947); see State v. O'Brien, 102 W. Va. 83, 134 S.E. 464 (1926); State v. 

Bailey, 154 W. Va. 25, 173 S.E.2d 173 (1970) (a writ of error may be obtained by the State to 

secure a review of the judgment of a circuit court dismissing an indictment because of 

insufficiency; such a fmal judgment cannot be reviewed on certification). "Whenever in any 

criminal case an indictment is held bad or insufficient by the judgment of a circuit court, the 

state, on the application of ... the prosecuting attorney, may appeal ... to the supreme court ... 

within thirty days after the entry of such judgment. ..." W. Va. Code § 58-5-30 (2015); see syl. 

pt. 1, State v. Jones, 178 W. Va. 627, 363 S.E.2d 513 (1987). Here, the Order of the Cabell 

County Circuit Court challenged the sufficiency of Counts I and III of Indictment 15-F-242, and 

ordered both counts dismissed. Because the State is entitled to appeal the dismissal of a felony 

indictment for insufficiency under W. Va. Code § 58-5-30, and because a Notice of Appeal was 
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timely filed within thirty days from the entry of the Circuit Court's Order, entered on May 13, 

the State is entitled to review of that Order by writ of error. 

A. 	 West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 prohibits violations of an individual person's civil rights, 
and it is considered to be a "hate crimes law." 

1. 	 Hate crimes are also known as "bias crimes," because they are motivated in whole 
or in part by the bias of the perpetrator against some characteristic of the victim. 

"[A] defendant's abstract beliefs, however obnoxious to most people, may not be taken into 

consideration by a sentencing judge." Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. 476, 485 (1993) (citing 

Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159 (1992)). However, "[d]eeply ingrained in our legal tradition 

is the idea that the more purposeful is the criminal conduct, the more serious is the offense, and, 

therefore, the more severely it ought to be punished." Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 156 

(1987). 

"Hate crimes, also referred to as bias crimes, are acts of violence, intimidation or 
harassment, directed at particular persons or property because of the race, 
ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation or other characteristic of the victim. They 
are: a) criminal acts which are b) motivated in whole or in part by the bias ofthe 
perpetrator. . . . These crimes target particular victims because of some 
characteristic of the victim that the perpetrator "hates." Victims, however, are not 
only those directly harmed by the act. Because these acts create fear and 
insecurity for all those who share the targeted characteristic, these crimes also 
victimize whole communities. Hate crimes, when they occur, are serious events. 
They are, in a very real sense, "acts of treason" against our most basic values. 

Paul R. Sheridan, Hate Crime Law in West Virginia, 107 W. Va. L. Rev. 699, 701 (2005) (emph. 

added). "'. . . [T]he Legislature has declared, "The denial of . . . rights . . . by reason of race, 

religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, blindness or handicap is contrary to the 

principles of freedom and equality of opportunity and is destructive to a free and democratic 

society." Therefore, every act of unlawful discrimination in employment, housing, or public 

accommodations is akin to an act of treason, undermining the very foundations of our 

democracy.' Governments should be expected to be vigorous in their efforts to prevent acts 
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which are 'akin to treason.' Hate crime laws, and their implement~tion, are one manifestation of 

this public policy that the appropriate role of government and law enforcement is to actively 

combat the seriously destructive effects of bigotry." Id. at 700 (quoting Allen v. State Human 

Rights Comm'n, 174 W. Va. 139, 149,324 S.E.2d 99, 109 (1984)). 

2. 	 West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 creates a separate criminal offense for violations of an 
individual's civil rights by threat of violence. 

West Virginia has multiple statutes aimed at bias motivated offenses, including the West 

Virginia Human Rights Act, W. Va. Code § 5-11-9 (2016) ("the WVHRA"), and the West 

Virginia Fair Housing Act, W. Va. Code § 5-11A-I, et seq., (2016). At issue here is the felony 

criminal statute "Prohibiting violations of an individual's civil rights," codified at W. Va. § 61-6

21. This statute creates a separate criminal offense of bias motivated violence and intimidation 

that carries a penalty of a fme up to five thousand dollars or a term of in1prisonment not more 

than ten years. See W. Va. Code § 61-6-21. "Enacted in 1987, W. Va. Code § 61-6-21 articulates 

a right under West Virginia law to be free from violence and intimidation based on race, color, 

religion, ancestry, national origin, political affiliation or sex .... In addition, it provides that a 

bias motive in the commission of any crime shall be considered an aggravating circumstance for 

the purpose of sentencing." Sheridan, Hate Crime, supra, at 703-04. Section 61-6-21 is 

consistent with Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which reflects the cruel 

and unusual punishment component of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 

and provides that "Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence." W. 

Va. Const. Art. III, § 8; see State v. Sulick, 232 W. Va. 717, 753 S.E.2d 875 (2012) (citing Syl. 

Pt. 8, State v. Vance, 164 W.Va. 216, 262 S.E.2d 423 (1980)). 

The only reported case on §61-6-21 upheld, in 2012, the constitutionality ofthe statute. State 

v. 	 Sulick, 232 W. Va. 717, 753 S.E.2d 875. In Sulick, the white defendant, Kendra Sulick, 
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challenged the constitutionality of §61-6-21 after she was convicted on three counts of criminal 

civil rights violations, subsequent to a course of racially motivated misbehavior directed at her 

black neighbors, the Smith-Obiri family. Id. at 720, 753 S.E.2d at 877-78. Ms. Sulick argued that 

§61-6-21 (1) is void for vagueness, and that (2) the statute allows for a sentence that is 

disproportionate to the character and degree of the violation. Id. at 722-23,753 S.E.2d at 880-81. 

The neighbors' relationship began to deteriorate rapidly in 2007 after Ms. Sulick's spouse shot 

and killed the Smith-Obiri family'S two dogs. Id. at 720, 753 S.E.2d at 878. Thereafter, Ms. 

Sulick repeatedly called Ms. Obiri and her children "f***ing n***ers," kicked gravel at members 

of the family with her car, gave Ms. Obiri "the finger," did "donuts" on an ATV hear the Obiri's 

yard, swerved a car at Ms. Obiri, and, late one evening, started a chainsaw and called out 

"f***ing n***ers, if you don't like it you can leave, f***ing n***ers." Id. at 726-27, 753 S.E.2d 

at 884-85. She was tried and convicted by a jury on three counts of criminal civil rights 

violations. Ms. Sulick was then sentenced to two year terms on each count to be run 

consecutively which was then suspended for five years' probation. She then appealed. The Court 

reasoned that "the statute is sufficiently definite to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair 

notice that his or her contemplated conduct is prohibited," and that because she was sentenced on 

the lower end of the allowable range, her sentence was not disproportionate. Id. at 723, 753 

S.E.2d at 883. Furthermore, the Court reasoned that §61-6-21 is not aimed at preventing hate 

speech, and therefore clarified the point that Ms. Sulick's racial slurs, profanities, and obscene 

gestures, while "reprehensible," were not hate crimes punishable under the statute, absent the use 

or threat force. Id. The Court therefore upheld §61-6-21 as constitutional. 

3. 	 West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 contains three elements. At issue here is the 
Defendant's bias motive. 
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The offense set out in §61-6-21 contains three elements: (a) the use of force or threat of 

force; (b) to injure, intimidate, interfere with; or attempt to injure, intimidate, or interfere with; or 

to oppress or threaten another person in the free exercise or enjoyment of a legally secured right; 

(c) motivated by bias against the victim's race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, political 

affiliation, or sex. See W. Va. Code § 61-6-21. The bias motive is ""the gravamen of a hate 

crime," and the element of §616-21 at issue here. See Sheridan, Hate Crime, supra, at 706. Much 

like the motive element required for a finding of discrimination under the WVHRA, a violative 

act under §61-6-21 must be "because of' the victim's race, color, religion, ancestry, national 

origin, political affiliation or sex. Id. 

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has never interpreted the bias motive 

element of §61-6-21, but it has discussed similar provisions of other laws which prohibit certain 

acts "because of' race, religion, or sex. Id. Interpreting the WVRHA, this Court has concluded 

that the discriminatory intent must be proven to be "a motivating factor," but it must not 

necessarily be the sole motivating factor, or even the primary motivating factor. Id. See Skaggs v. 

Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 75, 479 S.E.2d 561,585 (1996) (finding that when a company 

fired a disabled employee because of poor job performance, from a job for which he was 

physically ill-suited and to which he was reassigned after being initially hired to perform a 

different job, when jobs for which he was well qualified were available and unfilled, was 

circumstantial evidence of discrimination based on his disability); Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing 

Home, 193 W. Va. 475, 457 S.E.2d 152, n. 18 (1995) ('"plaintiff is not required to show that the 

defendant's proffered reasons.were false or played no role in the termination, but only that they 

were not the only reasons and the prohibited factor was at least one of the "motivating' reasons"). 

Other courts, applying similar criminal statutes, have also upheld hate crime convictions where 
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evidence showed that race, for example, was not the sole motive. See, e.g. United States v. Johns, 

615 F.2d 672, 675 (5th Cir. 1980) (finding that defendants who act with a racial motive can be 

found guilty of a bias crime "even if they had mixed motives in committing the act"). 

4. 	 No legislative record suggests whether or not sexual orientation was intended to be a 
protected status under West Virginia Code § 61-6-21. 

The West Virginia Legislature produces very little documentation of its legislative process; 

usually, the only accessible background documents are the various drafts of the House and 

Senate bills, and summaries contained in the Journal ofthe House ofDelegates and the Journal 

of the Senate. Here, the only indication of intent is that the House Committee on the Judiciary 

added the words "because of such other person's race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, 

political affiliation or sex" to the bill before it was passed. See Journal of the H. of Dels., 68-1, 

Reg. Sess., at 1451 (1987). Clearly, the legislature intended the law to focus on these enumerated 

statuses, but no discussion of the scope of the protected status based on sex is on record. 

B. 	 The certified question presents an issue of statutory analysis. 

The primary focus of statutory analysis is to identify and give effect to the underlying intent 

of the Legislature. Syi. pt. 1, Smith v. State Workmen's Camp. Comm'r, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 

S.E.2d 361 (1975); Perito v. Cly. ofBrooke, 215 W. Va. 178, 183,597 S.E.2d 311,316 (2004). 

With that intent in mind, the particular language used by the Legislature is then examined. 

Where a statute's language is clear and unambiguous, and the legislative intent is plain, the court 

should seek to apply its plain meaning. Syi. pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 

(1968); syi. pt. 5, State v. Gen. Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, Veterans of Foreign Wars, 144 

W.Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959); syI. pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W.Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 

(1951). "A statute is open to construction only where the language used requires interpretation 

because of ambiguity which renders it susceptible of two or more constructions or of such 
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doubtful or obscure meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its 

meaning." State ex reI. Lorenzetti v. Sanders, 235 W. Va. 353, 360, 774 S.E.2d 19, 26 (2015) 

(quoting Hereford v. Meek, 132 W. Va. 373, 386, 52 S.E.2d 740, 747 (1949)). 

The purpose for which the Legislature enacted W. Va. Code § 61-6-21 may be ascertained 

from the section's plain language. See Sulick, 232 W. Va. at 724, 753 S.E.2d at 882. However, 

there are occasions where the language used by the Legislature may be plain, but where it has 

nonetheless failed to define a certain word or phrase. "In the absence of any definition of the ... 

words or terms used in a legislative enactment, they will, in the interpretation of the act, be given 

their common, ordinary and accepted meaning in the connection in which they are used." Syl. pt. 

1, Miners in Gen. Group v. Hix, 123 W.Va. 637,17 S.E.2d 810 (1941) (emph. added), overruled, 

in part, on other grounds by Lee-Norse Co. v. Rutledge, 170 W.Va. 162,291 S.E.2d 477 (1982); 

see also syl. pt. 6, State ex rei. Cohen v. Manchin, 175 W.Va. 525,336 S.E.2d 171 (1984). 

"Importantly, [i]t is the duty of a court to construe a statute according to its true intent, and give 

to it such construction as will uphold the law and further justice. It is as well the duty of a court 

to disregard a construction, though apparently warranted by the literal sense of the words in a 

statute, when such construction would lead to injustice and absurdity." Syl. pt. 2, Click v. Click, 

98 W.Va. 419, 127 S.E. 194 (1925). 

Although the language of §61-6-21 is unquestionably plain, its meaning is nonetheless 

ambiguous with regard to this case. According to Black's Law Dictionary, the word "sex" may 

be defined in mUltiple ways: (1) "The sum of the peculiarities of structure and function that 

distinguish a male from a female organism; gender," or (2) "sexual intercourse," or (3) "sexual 

relations." Sex, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). In the context in which the word "sex" 

is used in §61-6-21, only the first definition can possibly apply; clearly, the Legislature did not 
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intent do provide protection against violence or threat of violence because of sexual acts. 

However, even in light of the given definition in Black's, the word "sex" is ambiguous because it 

is susceptible of two or more constructions: it can refer to the sum of biological parts that 

distinguish a male from a female, or it can refer to "g ender." The Merriam-Webster Dictionary 

further muddies the waters. Sex is defined in Webster's in no less than five ways: (1) "either of 

the two major forms of individuals that occur in many species and that are distinguished 

respectively as male or female especially on the basis of their reproductive organs and 

structures," (2) "the sum of the structural, functional, and behavioral characteristics of organisms 

that are involved in reproduction marked by the union of gametes and that distinguish males and 

females," (3) "sexually motivated phenomena or behavior," (4) "sexual intercourse," or (5) 

"genitalia." Sex, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, http://www.merriam-webster.comldictionary/sex 

(last visited July 22,2016). This set of definitions allows for a rendering of §61-6-21 that would 

provide protection for maleness or femaleness, but it would also provide protection based on 

sexually motivated phenomena or behavior. Such a construction could reasonably include both 

sexual orientation and behavior like a kiss between partners. Therefore, because the word "sex" 

as used in §61 could reasonably be construed to encompass multiple meanings, all according to 

common, ordinary, and accepted meanings in the connection in which the word is used, this 

Court should construe the statute in a way that is consistent with the rationale for the enactment 

of the section. 

C. 	Whether W. Va. Code § 61-6-21 protects an individual's civil rights based upon sexual 
orientation appears to be an issue of first impression in West Virginia. This Court 
should look to more developed areas of state law for guidance. 

The WVHRA provides protection against discrimination, largely in the areas of labor and 

employment, and it includes every §61-6-21 classification except for political affiliation. 
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Specifically, the WVHRA covers race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, blindness, 

disability, and age. W. Va. Code § 5-11-9 (2016). Because the protections embodied by the 

WVHRA are strikingly similar to §61-6-21, and because the West Virginia Supreme Court has 

provided guidance for WVHRA' s interpretation, this Court should now follow that same 

guidance to interpret § 61-6-21. 

1. 	 West Virginia courts have traditionally used federal Title VII precedent to interpret 
the state's anti-discrimination laws. 

This Court has never directly addressed whether sexual orientation discrimination is 

actionable under the WVHRA. However, the Court often looks to federal employment 

discrimination law under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 when interpreting provisions 

of the WVHRA. Wamsley v. Lab Corp, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71702, *3-5 (N.D. W. Va. Sept. 

26, 2007) (citing In re Kenna Homes Cooperative Corporation, 210 W. Va. 380, 557 S.E.2d 787 

(2001)); see 42 U.S.c. § 2000e-3 et seq., ("Title VIlli); see also Human Rights Com'n v. Wilson 

Estates, 202 W.Va. 152, 158, 503 S.E.2d 6, 12 (1998) (noting in an action brought under the 

West Virginia Fair Housing Act that this Court has "consistently" looked to Title VII law when 

interpreting the State's human rights statutes). 

a. 	 Federal law unambiguously protects against discrimination directed at individuals, 
rather than at entire classes of people, particularly in the area of sex-based 
discrimination. 

In City ofL.A., the Court scrutinized an employer's policy that deducted a higher percentage 

for retirement benefits from the paychecks of female workers than from those of male workers. 

City ofLos Angeles, Dept. of Water and Power v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702 (1978). The company 

depended on mortality tables and also on the undisputed fact that the average female employee 

lives longer than the average male employee. Id. The court noted that in reality, there are both 

real and fictional differences between men and women, and that employment decisions plainly 
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"cannot be predicated on mere 'stereotyped' impressions about the characteristics of males or 

females." Id. at 707, citing Sprogis v. United Air Lines, Inc., 444 F.2d 1194, 1198 (CA 7 1971) 

("In forbidding employers to discriminate against individuals because of their sex, Congress 

intended to strike at the entire spectrum of disparate treatment of men and women resulting from 

sex stereotypes.") The court went on to distinguish the case at bar: 

[t]his case does not, however, involve a fictional difference between men and 
women. It involves a generalization that the parties accept as unquestionably true: 
Women, as a class, do live longer than men. The Department treated its women 
employees differently from its men employees because the two classes are in fact 
different. It is equally true, however, that all individuals in the respective classes 
do not share the characteristic that differentiates the average class representatives. 
Many women do not live as long as the average man and many men outlive the 
average woman. The question, therefore, is whether the existence or nonexistence 
of "discrimination" is to be determined by comparison of class characteristics or 
individual characteristics. . . . The statute makes it unlawful "to discriminate 
against any individual with respect to his ... sex. The statute's focus on the 
individual is unambiguous. It precludes treatment of individuals as simply 
components of a . . . class. . . . Even a true generalization about the class is an 
insufficient reason for disqualifying an individual to whom the generalization 
does not apply .... Even if the statutory language were less clear, the basic policy 
of the statute requires that we focus on fairness to individuals rather than fairness 
to classes .... 

Id. at 707-11, quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1) (emphasis in original). 
1; 

h. West Virginia courts have recognized claims of discrimination "because of sex." 

Under both Title VII and the WVHRA, courts in West Virginia have recognized claims of 

same-sex harassment when a member of one sex subjects a member of the same sex to 

harassment because of gender. See Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Services, Inc., 523 U.S. 75 

(1998) (recognizing same sex harassment under Title VII); Willis v. Wal-Mart, 202 W. Va. 413, 

504 S.E.2d 648 (1998) (reversed on other grounds by Lack v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 240 F.3d 

255 (4th Cir. 2001) (adopting the rationale of the Oncale decision and recognizing a claim of 

same sex harassment under WVHRA). "The linchpin to a same sex harassment claim is a 
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showing that the defendant's alleged wrongful conduct was motivated by the plaintiffs sex. 

Wamsley v. Lab Corp, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71702, *3-5 (N.D. W. Va. Sept. 26,2007) (citing 

Oncale, 523 U.S. at 80-81). "'The critical issue [in the "because of sex" inquiry] is whether 

members of one sex are exposed to disadvantageous terms or conditions of employment to which 

members of the other sex are not exposed.'" Ocheltree v. Scollon Prods., 335 F.3d 325, 331 (4th 

Cir. 2003) (citing Oncale, 523 U.S. at 80). 

Like Title VII's "because of sex" requirement, the WVHRA's "based on plaintiffs gender" 

requirement corresponds to the harasser's hostile and discriminatory conduct. Lack v. Wal-Mart 

Stores, Inc., 240 F.3d 255 (4th Cir. 2001). It is not enough that the challenged conduct be sex

specific. Id. Because a hostile work environment claim is fundamentally a sex discrimination 

claim, a male plaintiff must establish that the harasser discriminated against him-treated him 

differently or with greater hostility-because he is a man. Id. The plaintiff must essentially prove 

that but for the fact ofher sex, she would not have been the object of harassment. Conrad v. ARA 

Szabo, 198 W. Va. 362, 372-373, 480 S.E.2d 801,811-812, (1996) (citing Henson v. Dundee, 

682 F.2d 897 (11th Cir. 1982)); see also Burgess v. Gateway Communications, 26 F. Supp. 2d 

888 (S.D. W. Va. 1998) (finding that management's preferential treatment of women ill 

exchange for sexual favors did not rise to the level of sexual discrimination "because of sex"). 

2. 	 Sexual orientation discrimination is actionable in other jurisdictions, and many 
courts have depended on employment law precedent to reach this conclusion. 

Oregon amended its general employment anti-discrimination statute to include "sexual 

orientation" among the prohibited grounds for discrimination. 2007 Or. Laws Ch. 100 (effective 

January 1, 2008). Prior to that, however, the Court of Appeals of Oregon had already found that 

sexual orientation was protected under the "because of sex" inquiry. Tanner v. Oregon Health 

Sciences Univ., 157 Ore. App. 502, 513-516, 971 P.2d 435, 441-443 (Or. Ct. App. 1998). That 
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court reviewed an Oregon statute (with language very similar to WVHRA) that provided, in part, 

that "[i]t is ... unlawful ... [f]or an employer, because of an individual's ... sex ...[or] marital 

status ... or because of the ... sex ... [or] marital status ... of any other person with whom the 

individual associates to discriminate against such individual ...." ORS 659.030(1)(b) .... In 

Roberts, on which the Tanner court relied, the Oregon Supreme Court had also suggested that "it 

is at least possible to construe the statute to apply to discrimination on the basis of sexual 

orientation." See ACLU v. Roberts, 305 Ore. 522, 752 P.2d 1215, 1217 (1988). 

3. 	 Federal law under Title VII effectively prohibits discrimination based on sexual 
orientation when the violative behavior is found to be "because of sex." 

Discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation has not traditionally been actionable under 

Title VII. See Wrightson v. Pizza Hut ofAmerica, Inc., 99 F.3d 138, 143 (4th Cir. 1996). See also 

Hopkins v. Baltimore Gas & Elec. Co., 77 F.3d 745, 751-52 (4th Cir. Md. 1996) ("Title VII does 

not reach discrimination based on ... the employee's sexual behavior, prudery, or vulnerability .. 

. . Similarly, Title VII does not prohibit conduct based on the employee's sexual orientation, 

whether homosexual, bisexual, or heterosexuaL") 

a. 	 Sex discrimination under Title VII is discrimination "because of sex." 

Title VII prohibits an employer from discriminating "against any individual ... because of 

such individual's ... sex." 42 U.S.c. § 2000e-2(a)(1). The foundational Supreme Court case 

addressing sex discrimination under Title VII is Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs., 523 U.S. 

75 (1998). In a unanimous opinion, the Court addressed whether sex discrimination could come 

from a person of the same sex. The Court relied on Title VII race discrimination precedent, 

which had rejected any presumption that "human beings of one defmable group will not 

discriminate against other members of that group." Oncale, 523 U.S. at 78 (quoting Castaneda v. 

Partida, 430 U.S. 482,499 (1977)). The Court also looked to the intent of Title VII's drafters: 
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As some courts have observed, male-on-male sexual harassment in the workplace 
was assuredly not the principal evil Congress was concerned with when it enacted 
Title VII. But statutory prohibitions often go beyond the principal evil to cover 
reasonably comparable evils, and it is ultimately the provisions of our laws rather 
than the principal concerns of our legislators by which we are governed. Title VII 
prohibits "discrimination ... because of ... sex" in the "terms" or "conditions" of 
employment. Our holding that this includes sexual harassment must extend to 
sexual harassment of any kind that meets the statutory requirements. 

!d. at 79-80. The Court went on to explain at length how judges and juries could discern 

discrimination "because of sex" in the future: 

... Courts and juries have found the inference of discrimination easy to draw in 
most male-female sexual harassment situations, because the challenged conduct 
typically involves explicit or implicit proposals of sexual activity . . . . But 
harassing conduct need not be motivated by sexual desire to support an inference 
of discrimination on the basis of sex....[The plaintiff] must always prove that the 
conduct at issue was not merely tinged with offensive sexual connotations, but 
actually constituted "discrimination . .. because of ... sex." ... [T]he objective 
severity of harassment should be judged from the perspective of a reasonable 
person in the plaintiffs position, considering "all the circumstances" . . . 
[including] . . . the social context in which particular behavior occurs and is 
experienced by its target. A professional football player's working environment is 
not ... abusive, for example, if the coach smacks him on the buttocks as he heads 
onto the field--even if the same behavior would reasonably be experienced as 
abusive by the coach's secretary (male or female) back at the office .... Common 
sense, and an appropriate sensitivity to social context, will enable courts and 
juries to distinguish between simple teasing or roughhousing among members of 
the same sex, and conduct which a reasonable person in the plaintiffs position 
would find severely hostile or abusive .... 

Id. at 80-82. 

The United States Supreme Court uses a simple test for Title VII sex discrimination: 

violative behavior is action that treats a person "in a manner which but for that person's sex 

would be different." City ofL.A. at 711; accord Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. v. 

E.E.o.c., 462 U.S. 669, 683 (1983) (fmding that an employer provided health insurance plan, 

that provided greater maternity benefits for female employees than for wives of male employees, 

discriminated against male employees "because of their sex"). The Court in City of L.A. 
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responded to an argument by the employer that the distinction in different pension contributions 

was based on the factor of longevity rather than sex, of which sex is only one contributing factor 

to calculate life expectancy. The Court observed that, although true, there was no evidence in the 

record to suggest that any factor other than the employee's sex was actually taken into account. 

The Court therefore adopted the lower court's observation "that one cannot 'say that an actuarial 

distinction based entirely on sex is "based on any other factor other than sex." Sex is exactly 

what it is based on,'" and held that the practice did not pass the simple test of whether the 

evidence shows 'treatment of a person in a manner which but for that person's sex would be 

different. '" Id. at 711-13 (quoting Manhart v. City ofLos Angeles, Dept. of Water and Power, 

553 F.2d 581,588 (9th Cir. 1976)). 

b. 	 When it enforces the provisions of Title VII. the Equal Opportunity Employment 
Commission ("EEOC") now views sexual orientation discrimination as 
discrimination "because of sex. " 

Discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation is premised on sex-based preferences, 

assumptions, expectations, stereotypes, or norms. David Baldwin, Appeal No. 0120133080, 2015 

WL 4397641 (July 15, 2015). "Sexual orientation" as a concept cannot be defined or understood 

without reference to sex. Id. A man is called "gay" if he is physically and/or emotionally 

attracted to other men. American Psychological Ass'n, Definition ofTerms: Sex, Gender, Gender 

Identity, Sexual Orientation (Feb. 2011), available at 

http://www.apa.org/pi/lgbt/resources/sexuality-definitions.pdf (last visited July 25, 2016). 

The EEOC is the primary Agency charged with enforcing Title VII. Until recently, EEOC 

acknowledged that Title VII's prohibition on discrimination "because of sex" did not directly 

prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation. See Brief of the U.S. Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission as Amicus Curiae in Support of Rehearing, Warnether A. Muhammad 
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v. Caterpillar. Inc., EEOC Appeal No. 12-1723, 767 F.3d 694 (7th Cir. 2014). However, the 

EEOC observed an increasing number of courts finding that "intentional discrimination based on 

an individual's sexual orientation can be proved to be grounded in sex-based norms, preferences, 

expectations, or stereotypes." Id. In Complainant v. Department of Homeland Security, EEOC 

Appeal No. 0120110576, 2014 WL 4407457 *1 (Aug. 20, 2014), the EEOC explained that 

"[w]hile Title VII's prohibition of discrimination does not explicitly include sexual orientation as 

a basis, Title VII prohibits sex discrimination, including sex-stereotyping discrimination and 

gender discrimination" and "sex discrimination claims may intersect with claims of sexual 

orientation discrimination." Id. at *7 (citing Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989)). 

The EEOC now supports recent interpretations of Title VII to find that sexual orientation 

discrimination is prohibited by Title VII. "Sex discrimination involves treating someone (an 

applicant or employee) unfavorably because of that person's sex. Discrimination against an 

individual because of gender identity, including trans gender status, or because of sexual 

orientation is discrimination because of sex in violation of Title VII." Types ofDiscrimination, 

Sex Based Discrimination, U.S. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT COMMISSION (last visited 

April 1, 2016), http://www.eeoc.gov/laws/types/sex.cfm. "EEOC interprets and enforces Title 

VII's prohibition of sex discrimination as forbidding any employment discrimination based on 

gender identity or sexual orientation. These protections apply regardless of any contrary state or 

local laws." What You Should Know About EEOC and the Enforcement Protections for LGBT 

Workers, U.S. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT COMMISSION (last visited April 1, 2016), 

http://wwwl.eeoc.gov//eeoc/newsroomlwysk/enforcementyrotections_lgbt_workers.cfm?render 

forprint= 1. 
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In July 2015, the EEOC (in a federal sector decision) decided that sexual orientation 

discrimination is, by its very nature, discrimination because of sex. See David Baldwin, Appeal 

No. 0120133080, 2015 WL 4397641 (July 15, 2015). There, the EEOC enumerated several 

reasons why Title VII's prohibition of sex discrimination includes discrimination because of 

sexual orientation: (1) sexual orientation discrimination necessarily involves treating workers 

less favorably because of their sex because sexual orientation as a concept cannot be understood 

without reference to sex; (2) sexual orientation discrimination is rooted in non-compliance with 

sex stereotypes and gender norms, and employment decisions based in such stereotypes and 

norms have long been found to be prohibited sex discrimination under Title VII; and (3) sexual 

orientation discrimination punishes workers because of their close personal association with 

members of a particular sex, such as marital and other personal relationships. Id. 

In support of its current position, the EEOC argues that Title VII itself prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of sex without further definition or restriction and "it is not our 

province to modify that text by adding limitations to it." Id. Relying again on Oncale, the EEOC 

says that "Congress may not have envisioned the application of Title VII to these situations. But 

as a unanimous Court stated [in Oncale], 'statutory prohibitions often go beyond the principal 

evil [they were passed to combat] to cover reasonably comparable evils, and it is ultimately the 

provisions of our laws rather than the principal concerns of our legislators by which we are 

governed. '" Id, citing 523 U.S. at 79, 78-80. "Interpreting the sex discrimination prohibition of 

Title VII to exclude coverage of lesbian, gay or bisexual individuals who have experienced 

discrimination on the basis of sex inserts a limitation into the text that Congress has not included. 

Nothing in the text of Title VII 'suggests that Congress intended to confine the benefits of [the] 
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statute to heterosexual employees alone.'" Baldwin, 2015 WL 4397641 at *9, citing Heller v. 

Columbia Edgewater Country Club, 195 F. Supp. 2d. 1212 (D. Or. 2002). 

c. 	 Discrimination based on non-conformity with sex stereotypes may now also be 
considered sexual orientation discrimination, and it is sufficient to establish a viable 
Title VII sex discrimination claim. 

Discrimination because of a victim's supposed non-conformity with sex-based stereotypes is 

now considered sexual orientation discrimination under Title VII. In Terveer, a manager 

allegedly harassed his employee because, as a homosexual male, the employee's "sexual 

orientation [was] not consistent with the [manager's] perception of acceptable gender roles" or 

stereotypes. Terveer v. Billington, 34 F. Supp. 3d 100, 116 (D.D.C. 2014); see also Price 

Waterhouse, 490 U.S. at 251 (noting that employers can no longer evaluate employees "by 

assuming or insisting that they match ... the stereotype associated with their group"); Heller, 

195 F. Supp. 2d 1212 (noting that the belief that women should only be attracted to and date men 

is a gender stereotype). The employee alleged that, because "his orientation as homosexual had 

removed him from [the manager's] preconceived definition of male," he had experienced a 

hostile work environment. Id. The U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia reasoned that 

the employer's discrimination was based on his perception of the employee's non-conformity 

with sex stereotypes, simply because of his "status as a homosexual," and found that this was a 

valid foundation for a Title VII sex discrimination claim. Id. 

D. 	 The Defendant committed violative acts because of his victims' sex, which would 
amount to actionable sex discrimination under Title VII. This Court should rely on the 
rationale of Title VII precedent to fmd that W.V. Code § 61-6-21 is applicable here. 

Because this Court relies on Title VII law to interpret state law related to human rights, this 

court should now fmd that §61-6-21 is applicable in this case. Like in Wamsley, where the court 

noted that a defendant's alleged wrongful conduct-that was motivated by the plaintiffs sex
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was actionable under WVHRA and Title VII, here, the Defendant attacked his victims simply 

because of their sex. Under both Title VII and the WVHRA, courts have recognized claims of 

same-sex harassment when a member of one sex subjects a member of the same sex to 

harassment because of gender. See Wamsley v. Lab Corp, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71702, *3-5, 

2007 WL 2819632 (N.D. W. Va. Sept. 26, 2007) (citing Oncale 523 U.S. at 80-81). The sexual 

content of the offensive and derogatory comments that were made to the two men here also 

indicate they were singled out because of their sex. The record provides a sufficient basis for a 

reasonable factfinder to conclude that if either victim had not been male, they would not have 

been subjected to the Defendant's use of force to willfully injure, intimidate, interfere with, 

oppress, and threaten his victims in the free exercise or enjoyment of their human rights. Like in 

both West Virginia and Federal cases cited herein, including §City of L.A., Oncale, Price 

Waterhouse, as well as a host of others, the Defendant's victims were targeted solely because of 

their sex. Additionally, like in Heller and Terveer, among other cases, the Defendant's victims 

were targeted because their behavior did not conform to the Defendant's own preconceived 

notions about how men should act. Furthermore, the Defendant's actions surpassed the level of 

discriminatory employment actions. Here, the Defendant, who until recently was an NCAA 

Division I athlete, willfully, maliciously, and violently attacked two unarmed men, with no 

provocation whatsoever. It is the duty of this court to construe the statute according to its true 

intent, and to give to it such construction as will uphold the law and further justice. See Click, 98 

W.Va. 419. Not only that, but it is the duty of this court to disregard the construction of the 

statute that omits any mention of protection for sexual orientation, because such a literal 

construction, though apparently warranted by the literal sense of the words in the statute, would 

clearly lead to injustice and absurdity. See Id. 
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In response to the application of Title VII law the State advocates herein, the Defendant may 

argue that Congress has debated but not yet passed legislation explicitly providing protections 

for sexual orientation discrimination. However, this argument is not persuasive. The Supreme 

Court has ruled that '"[c ]ongressional inaction lacks persuasive significance because several 

equally tenable inferences may be drawn from such 'inaction, including the inference that the 

existing legislation already incorporated the offered change." Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. 

LTV Corp., 496 U.S. 633, 650 (1990). The argument that congressional action is always required 

(and that inaction is therefore instructive on this point) depends on the conclusion that protection 

against sexual orientation discrimination under Title VII would create a new class of covered 

persons. See Baldwin, 2015 WL 4397641 at *9. 

But analogous case law confirms this is not true. When courts held that Title VII 
protected persons who were discriminated against because of their relationships 
with persons of another race, the courts did not thereby create a new protected 
class of "people in interracial relationships." See, e.g., Deffenbaugh-Williams v. 
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 156 F.3d 581, 588-89 (5th Cir. 1998), reinstated in 
relevant part, Williams v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 182 F.3d 333 (5th Cir. 1999) (en 
banc). And when the Supreme Court decided that Title VII protected persons 
discriminated against because of gender stereotypes held by an employer, it did 
not thereby create a new protected class of "masculine women." See Price 
Waterhouse, 490 U.S. at 239-40 (plurality opinion). Similarly, when ruling under 
Title VII that discrimination against an employee because he lacks religious 
beliefs is religious discrimination, the courts did not thereby create a new Title 
VII basis of "non-believers." See, e.g., EEOC v. Townley Eng'g & Mfg. Co., 859 
F. 2d. 610, 621 (9th Cir. 1988). These courts simply applied existing Title VII 
principles on race, sex, and religious discrimination to these situations. The courts 
have gone where the principles of Title VII have directed. 

Id. Instead, the State argues that, even in light of modem trends with regard to homosexual 

rights, Congress has not taken action to amend Title VII because it already includes protection 

against sexual orientation discrimination. Likewise, the sparse legislative history in West 

Virginia suggests the same conclusion with regard to both WVHRA and West Virginia Code § 

61-6-21. 
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E. 	 It was error for the circuit court to dismiss portions of the indictment, subsequent to the 
Supreme Court's denial of certification on the Certified Question, because the State can 
prosecute the charges on more than one legal theory. 

1. The West Virginia Code contains two sections pertaining to certified questions. 

a. 	 The Unifonn Certification of Questions of Law Act was intended to provide foreign 
courts a means for answering questions of West Virginia Law, and to provide West 
Virginia courts a means to resolve questions of foreign law. 

§51-1A-2. Power to certify. 
The supreme court of appeals of West Virginia, on the motion of a party to a 
pending cause or its own motion, may certify a question of law to the highest 
court of another state2 or of a tribe3 or of Canada, a Canadian province or 
territory, Mexico or a Mexican state if: 

(1) The pending cause involves a question to be decided under the law of the 
other state or of the tribe or of Canada, the Canadian province or territory, 
Mexico or the Mexican state; 
(2) The answer to the question may be determinative of an issue in the 
pending cause; and 
(3) The question is one for which no answer is provided by a controlling 
appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute of the other state or of 
the tribe or of Canada, the Canadian province or territory, Mexico or the 
Mexican state. 

§51-1A-3. Power to answer. 
The supreme court of appeals of West Virginia may answer a question oflaw 
certified to it by any court ofthe United States or by the highest appellate court or 
the intermediate appellate court ofanother state or ofa tribe or ofCanada, a 
Canadian province or territory, Mexico or a Mexican state, ifthe answer may be 
determinative ofan issue in a pending cause in the certifYing court and ifthere is 
no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute ofthis state. 

W. Va. Code §§ 51-1A-2 to 3 (emph. added) ("§51"). 

§ 51 creates a discretionary means by which the West Virginia Supreme Court may resolve 

ambiguities and unanswered questions about West Virginia law, especially for foreign courts. 

Abrams v. W Va. Racing Comm 'n, 164 W. Va. 315 (1980); see also Morningstar v. Black & 

Decker Mfg· Co., 162 W. Va. 857,253 S.E.2d 666 (1979) (the section is not mandatory, and the 

2 "State" means a state of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 
or any territory or insular possession subject to the jurisdiction of the United States. W. Va. Code § 51
lA-l(l) (2015). 

3 "Tribe" means a native American tribe, band or village recognized by federal law or formally 

acknowledged by a state .. W. Va. Code § 51-1A-l(2) (2015). 
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Court may decide not to answer a question certified under it). In Abrams, the federal district 

court for the Southern District of West Virginia had certified a question to the West Virginia 

Supreme Court to determine whether a West Virginia code section and the state racing 

commission rules violated the Due Process or Equal Protection clause. Jd. at 315-16. This Court 

suggested that acceptance of certification would be proper in cases where the question "involves 

an issue of the state court's construction of a state statute, which construction might avoid or 

modify a constitutional challenge to the statute," or where a "peculiar or unique feature of our 

State Constitution might be dispositive of the case." Jd. at 319-20. However, the Court also 

reasoned that any holding it could make pertaining to any other questions of U.S. Constitutional 

law would be purely advisory. Jd. at 318. "It may well be argued that our refusal to answer the 

certified question creates further delay in the litigation before us. However, the essential legal 

issue is that any answer we might give would not be binding on the federal court in its resolution 

of the federal constitutional claim. To say that the federal court might follow our reasoning is to 

confuse courtesy with the fundamental distinctions between federal and state courts." Jd. at 322. 

This Court therefore concluded that answering certified questions under W. Va. Code § 51-lA-I, 

et seq., was discretionary rather than mandatory. 

§51 is largely a response to the Abstention Doctrine, "a necessary outgrowth" of the U.S. 

Supreme Court's decision in Erie. Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 860-61, 253 S.E.2d at 668-69 

(citing Erie R.R. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938) (holding that federal courts are no longer free 

to exercise judgment in diversity cases as to what state law is or should be, but instead must 

apply the state's substantive law». Where West Virginia's substantive law is clear, there is no 

need to obtain certification under §51, and certification is limited to those questions "which may 

be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and as to which it appears to 
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the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the supreme court of 

appeals ofthis State." Id (quoting W.Va. Code § 51-1 A-1). Other states with similar certification 

statutes have generally recognized that certification serves to resolve ambiguities or unanswered 

questions about the receiving state's law. Id See. e.g., Wansor v. George Hantscho Co., 570 F.2d 

1202 (5th Cir. 1978); Almarez v. Carpenter, 173 Colo. 284, 477 P.2d 792 (1970). 

h. 	 West Virginia Code § 58-5-2 allows for appellate review by the Supreme Court of 
questions of law pending in the circuit courts. 

This Court has appellate jurisdiction as set out in Section Three, Article Eight of the state 

constitution, and it is given other jurisdiction in both civil and criminal cases by law. State v. 

Houchins, 96 W. Va. 375, 376-77, 123 S.E. 185, 186 (1924) (citing W. Va. Const. art. VIII, § 

3.); City of Wheeling v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co., 81 W. Va. 438,440,94 S.E. 511, 512 

(1917). "For a considerable period of time, we have had an internal statutory certification 

procedure whereby the circuit courts may obtain from this Court a definitive statement of the 

law." Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 162 W. Va. 857, 861, 253 S.E.2d 666, 669 

(1979) (citing W.Va. Code § 58-5-2) ("§58"). "The statutory procedure permitting this Court to 

consider Certified Questions since 1915 and allowing a litigant a direct and preliminary review is 

available either on motion of the trial court or by agreement of the parties." Wilfong v. Wilfong, 

156 W. Va. 754, 759,197 S.E.2d 96,100 (1973). "Historically, we have treated this procedure as 

a means of clarifying the current state of our law, so that the trial courts may proceed to try a 

case on the correct legal principles." Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 861, 253 S.E.2d at 669. §58 

was enacted to enable this Court "to determine upon certificate all questions involving the 

sufficiency of a summons, a return of service, or a pleading which affect or control the fmal 

disposition of a case before vexatious costs are incurred or needless delays occur in its ultimate 

and complete determination." Weatherford v. Arter, 135 W. Va. 391, 393-94, 63 S.E.2d 572, 
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573-74 (1951) (citing State v. Houchins, 96 W. Va. 375, 123 S.E. 185 (1924); City of Wheeling 

v. Chesapeake and Potomac Tel. Co. ofW Va., 81 W. Va. 438, 94 S.E. 511 (1917), overruled on 

other grounds by Tennant v. Kilcoyne, 120 W. Va. 137,196 S.E. 559 (1938)). 

§584 is "an aid to the prompt and economical administration of justice," and it presupposes 

court action by the circuit court, prior to certification. Wheeling at 440, 94 S.E. at 512. The trial 

judge must first decide the questions raised, and record his or her decision in an interlocutory 

order. Houchins, 96 W. Va. at 377, 123 S.E. at 186; see also syl. pt. 1, GaUapoo v. Wal-Mart 

Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996) ("The appellate standard of review of 

questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de novo."). "The statute 

contemplates an unequivocal original ruling by the trial court in any case certified to this Court 

and only such questions as have been decided by the trial court and by it certified here may be 

considered, upon certificate, by this Court." Id. at 394; see Posten v. Baltimore & 0. R.R., 93 W. 

Va. 612,117 S.E. 491 (1923); "This Court, having no original jurisdiction of this cause and 

acting only as an appellate court, will not consider non jurisdictional questions not acted upon by 

the trial court." Id. (quoting Cook v. Collins, 131 W. Va. 475, 48 S.E.2d 161 (1948)). "To 

consider and decide nonjurisdictional questions, not acted upon by the trial court, would be the 

assumption of jurisdiction which this Court does not possess." Id. The Supreme Court's 

jurisdiction under §58 is limited to questions of law pertaining to the sufficiency of a summons 

or return of service, or a challenge to the sufficiency of a pleading. Leishman v. Bird, 147 W. Va. 

525, 129 S.E.2d 440 (1963). The Supreme Court retains some flexibility in determining how and 

to what extent certified questions from a circuit court are answered. See Belcher v. Goins, 184 

W. Va. 395,400 S.E.2d 830 (1990). 

4 In this case, the referenced section, with language duplicative of §58-5-2, was from the 1916 Code, c. 135, § 1. See 
Wheeling, 81 W. Va. at 439, 94 S.E. at 511; see also W. Va. Code Ann. § 58-5-2 (LexisNexis 2016). 
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2. 	 The West Virginia Supreme Court retains the power to reformulate certified 
questions, and it only hears certified questions that are necessary to reach a decision 
in the pending case. 

"When a certified question is not framed so that this Court is able to fully address the law 

which is involved in the question, then this Court retains the power to reformulate questions 

certified to it under both the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act found in W. Va. 

Code, 51-lA-I, et seq. and W. Va. Code, 58-5-2 [1967], the statute relating to certified questions 

from a circuit court of this State to this Court." Calvert v. Scharf, 217 W. Va. 684, 689, 619 

S.E.2d 197,202 (2005) (quoting syi. pt. 3, Kincaid v. Mangum, 189 W. Va. 404,432 S.E.2d 74 

(1993)); see also W. Va. Code § 51-1A-4 (2016) ("The Supreme Court of Appeals of West 

Virginia may reformulate a question certified to it.")). However, regardless of its ability to 

reformulate questions, where a case is before it upon certificate, the court will confme its holding 

to the specific question certified. See Brumfield v. Wofford, 143 W. Va. 332, 102 S.E.2d 103 

(1958). 

The Court's power to reformulate certified questions allows it to resolve only those issues 

necessary to resolve the case. Scharf, 217 W. Va. 684, 619 S.E.2d 197. In Scharf, the circuit 

court of Kanawha County certified nine questions for determination by the Supreme Court as 

part of an action for attorney malpractice in the drafting of a will. Id. at 685-86, 619 S.E.2d at 

198-99. Before addressing the specific issues raised in the proceeding, the Court reformulated 

the nine questions, reasoning that "we find it necessary to answer only one reformulated question 

in order to resolve the issues necessary to the resolution of this case ...." Id. at 689,619 S.E.2d 

at 202. After answering the single, reformulated certified question in the negative, the Court 

determined that, as a matter of law, no cause of action existed, and therefore held that the 

plaintiffs could not maintain their cause of action for malpractice. Id. at 696,619 S.E.2d at 209. 
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Under § 58, the Supreme Court will not consider certified questions that are not necessary in 

the decision of the case. W Va. Water Servo Co. v. Cunningham, 143 W. Va. 1, 98 S.E.2d 891 

(1957). In W Va. Water, the defendant was a construction company hired by the Charleston 

Sanitary Board to build a sewer system, and the plaintiff was the water company. Id. at 3, 98 

S.E.2d at 892-93. The water company incurred costs to move several water lines out of the way 

of the new sewer system, and it filed suit against the construction company to recover those 

costs. Id. The circuit court was asked to determine whether the construction company was 

entitled to governmental immunity, acting as it was for the city Sanitary Board. Id. at 4, 98 

S.E.2d at 893. The circuit court therefore certified four questions to the Supreme Court: (1) 

whether the Sanitary Board had the same immunity as the city, (2) whether the contractor was 

then clothed with that immunity, (3) whether the Sanitary Board was acting in a governmental 

capacity to construct the sewer (by hiring the construction company), and (4) whether the 

construction company was required to pay costs to the water company incident to the removal of 

water lines as a result of the construction project. Id. at 5-6, 98 S.E.2d at 894. The Supreme 

Court reasoned that, because the Sanitary Board was created by a valid exercise of the State's 

police power, thus authorizing it to enter into the construction contract, and because the 

construction company was an independent contractor, there was therefore no need to answer 

either the first or the third question to reach a decision in the case. Id. at 7, 98 S.E.2d at 894-95. 

The Court answered the other two questions, determining that the contractor was liable for costs. 

Id. at 9-10, 98 S.E.2d at 896, The Court therefore held that its decision was a valid determination 

of the sufficiency of a pleading under § 58, and noted that its action was consistent with the 

Legislature's desire to ", , , affect or control the final disposition of a case before vexatious costs 
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are incurred or needless delays occur in its ultimate and complete determination." Id. at 10, 98 

S.E.2d at 896 (quoting Weatherford v. Arter, 135 W. Va. 391, 63 S.E.2d 572 (1951)). 

3. 	 The Certified Question in this case was handled improperly by the circuit court. 

a. 	 The circuit court should have answered the question prior to certification, and the 
Question should have been certified under §58-5-2, not under §51-IA-1, et seq. 

The Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act was primarily intended to provide 

foreign courts a means to resolve cross-jurisdictional questions of West Virginia law, while West 

Virginia Code § 58-5-2 was intended primarily to provide for the appellate review by the 

Supreme Court of questions of law pending in West Virginia circuit courts. In this case, the 

circuit court of Cabell County certified a single question of law to the Supreme Court under the 

Act, rather than under § 58, which was intended for this type of intra-state review, and it did so 

prior to making any ruling on the question as required by § 58. The circuit court asked 

"[w]hether the provision of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21 embodies a protection of an 

individual's civil rights if the violative act is based solely upon said individual's sexual 

orientation." Order of Cert. to the Sup. Ct. of W. Va. at 1. The circuit court indicated its belief 

"that the parties have raised an important question of law," however it did not first answer that 

question as required under § 58. Id. Essentially, the extent of the circuit court's ruling that was 

submitted for appellate review was its statement that the question is "determinative for the cause 

now pending ...." Id. When this Court denied cert on the Certified Question, it indicated that 

"the ruling of the circuit court upon the question certified to this Court should not be reviewed .. 

. " Order Denying Cert. at I. Because this Court refuses to answer certified questions that are not 

pertinent to the decision of a case, and because this Court has consistently acted according to the 

Legislature's intent to "... affect or control the final disposition of a case before vexatious costs 

are incurred or needless delays occur in its ultimate and complete determination," the State 
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reasonably assumes in this case that this Court believed that either the certification process was 

flawed-which it did not so indicate-or that the Certified Question is not outcome 

determinative. Otherwise, the only natural consequence of the denial of cert would be to cause 

the very "vexatious costs and needless delays" that the Court routinely avoids. 

b. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it answered the Certified Question sua sponte, and as a 
result it improperly dismissed Counts I and III of the indictment. 

Under § 58, the long accepted code provision for intrastate, interlocutory review of 

questions of law in the circuit courts, certification is only appropriate after the circuit court has 

itself ruled on the question. After review, the Supreme Court exercised its discretion to decline 

certification on the Certified Question. Only then did the circuit court make its own ruling on the 

legal question. In doing so, it essentially took upon itself the role of the appellate court, thus 

circumventing the order of this Court. 

4. 	 The Supreme Court declined to answer the Certified Question in this case, and 
therefore the Question need not be answered to decide this case. The State can still 
prosecute these charges "because of the sex" of the victims. 

Here, the Supreme Court was presented with a question critical to the State's first legal 

theory, that the victims were attacked on the basis of their sexual orientation. If the Supreme 

Court believed that prosecution under § 61-6-21 based on this theory was inappropriate, it could 

have made that ruling on its own by answering the certified question. But this Court did not do 

that. When the Supreme Court exercised its discretion by declining to answer the Certified 

Question, it effectively announced that the question was not outcome determinative for this case, 

and thus signaled that the question need not be answered to resolve the case. For this reason, it 

was error for the Circuit Court to order Charges I and III of the indictment dismissed subsequent 

to the Supreme Court's order. 
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Furthennore, even if this Court's denial of certification is taken to be a negative answer on 

the Certified Question, it does not follow from that answer that the charges in the indictment 

must be dropped. The State argues that the Defendant assaulted his victims because of his 

perception of their sexual orientation, but also because of their sex. A violation based on gender 

stereotyping is a violation "because of sex," and it is therefore conduct proscribed under §61. 

The Court has never taken the position that when questions are certified to it in a pending matter, 

those questions must encompass all possible legal theories in the case. Therefore, a negative 

answer to the Certified Question does not preclude prosecution under § 61 based on the State's 

reasonable secondary legal theory. 

CONCLUSION 

The essence of Title VII is the notion that discrimination against others because of who they 

are will not be tolerated under the law. The enforcing body for Title VII, the EEOC, now 

recognizes a prominent class in American society, those who are subject to discrimination simply 

for being homosexuals. Under Title VII, an employee can now show that "the sexual orientation 

discrimination he or she experienced was sex discrimination because it involved treatment that 

would not have occurred but for the individual's sex; because it was based on the sex of the 

person(s) the individual associates with; and/or because it was premised on the fundamental sex 

stereotype, nonn, or expectation that individuals should be attracted only to those of the opposite 

sex." Baldwin, 2015 WL 4397641 at *10. Because the EEOC has concluded that allegations of 

discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation may in fact constitute a claim of discrimination 

on the basis of sex, this Court should now apply the same principles to its interpretation of West 

Virginia Code § 61-6-21. "Importantly, [i]t is the duty of a court to construe a statute according 

to its true intent, and give to it such construction as will uphold the law and further justice. It is 
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as well the duty of a court to disregard a construction, though apparently warranted by the literal 

sense of the words in a statute, when such construction would lead to injustice and absurdity." 

Syl. pt. 2, Click, 98 W.Va. 419,127 S.E. 194. In this case, failure to apply West Virginia Code § 

61-6-21 would lead to injustice. 

The Defendant acted with unbridled arrogance when he decided that Zackery Johnson and 

Casey Willianls should not be allowed an outward expression of who they are. He decided that 

they should be singled out and punished because they dared to transgress his own unwritten law. 

This is the very sort of behavior that the law has long served to prevent and to rectify. His 

behavior demonstrates a willingness to exert his own brand of random, vigilante social 

engineering on any random strangers who he happens to find unacceptable. §61-6-21, WVHRA, 

and Title VII were all enacted to protect vulnerable components of society. Each of these laws 

respond in some way to the decades of random, public violence exerted on people, simply 

because they walked out of their homes with dark skin, or with the "wrong" family, or even with 

the "wrong" thoughts. The Defendant's assault on two homosexual men, simply because they 

were homosexuals, should likewise be abhorred by this Court. Because the Defendant's behavior 

is precisely the type of injustice that elevates his behavior from battery, to something much 

more, and because the Legislature cannot conceivably have intended to exclude an entire class of 

vulnerable West Virginians from protection, this Court should answer the certified question in 

the positive. Alternatively, this Court should at the very least enable the State to prosecute the 

Defendant based on the assault "because of the sex" ofhis victims, a clear violation of §61-6-21. 
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WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Court overrule the ruling of the 

circuit court, and allow the State to proceed with all charges filed against the Defendant in 

Indictment Number 15-F-242, arising out of his violation of West Virginia Code § 61-6-21. 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Petitioner 
By Counsel, 

La ren E. Plymale, E g., B# 10551 
sistant Prosecuting mey 

Cabell County Courthouse 
750 5th Avenue, Suite 350 
Huntington, WV 25701 
(304) 526-8653 

Counsel for the Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I, Lauren E. Plymale, Assistant Prosecuting Attorney, Cabell County, West Virginia, certify 

that I caused the foregoing STATE'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW ON THE CERTIFIED 

QUESTION ON WEST VIRGINIA CODE 61-6-21 to be served on Raymond A. Nolan, counsel 

for the Defendant, by mailing a true copy thereof to 623 7th Street, Huntington, WV, 25701, on 

this the 14th day of September, 2016. 

L ren E. Plymale, E ., S 
ssistant Prosecuting A 

Cabell County Courthouse 
750 5th Avenue, Suite 350 
Huntington, WV 25701 
(304) 526-8653 


